

Senate Select Committee on Adopting Artificial Intelligence (AI)

Submission from the Department of Health and Aged Care

MAY 2024



Contents

Introduction	
Opportunities to adopt AI in ways that benefit consumers	3
Safe adoption of Al	4
Ethical	4
Data	4
Regulation clarity	5
Wider determinants	5
Risks and harms arising from the adoption of AI technologies	6
Data, Privacy, Security and Sovereignty	6
Safety	7
Bias and Fairness	7
Role of the Therapeutic Goods Administration	7
Research	8
Glossary	9
References	10

Introduction

The Department of Health and Aged Care (the department) welcomes the opportunity to make a submission to the Senate Select Committee on Adopting Artificial Intelligence (AI).

The Productivity Commission *Leveraging digital technology in healthcare* research report found that the healthcare sector has the most potential to benefit from Al adoption. The safe adoption of Al has the possibility to solve urgent and emerging challenges in our health system and alleviate the pressure on our healthcare workforce. Al technology could address increased expectations for personalised health services, improved access to care, rising costs and the growing complexity of care for people with chronic conditions.

Australia's population is growing and ageing.² Estimated to reach 40.5 million in 2062-63, the number of Australians over 65 will more than double. Meanwhile the workforce participation rate is expected to shrink by more than 4%.² Applied safely, AI technology can ease the pressure on a healthcare workforce facing challenges to meet the significant demands ahead.

Health care is recognised as a high-risk use case for Al.³ With the rapid development of Al systems that can now analyse complex algorithms and self-learn, new settings are required to ensure the safe adoption of Al. The right regulatory settings for Al-powered systems are critical. Risk-based frameworks minimise potential risks and maximise benefits.⁴



Foundational to the safe adoption of AI is the modernisation of our digital systems. The Government's \$1.1 billion investment in digital health reforms is giving people living in Australia a world-leading health system through a strengthened Medicare. The *Digital Health Blueprint 2023-2033 and Action Plan*, the *National Digital Health Strategy 2023-2028* and the *National Healthcare Interoperability Plan 2023-2028* will deliver the foundations for datasharing and digital systems that grows uptake and usability of AI.

The Australian healthcare sector is motivated and engaged to support the safe and responsible adoption of AI. The Australian Alliance for Artificial Intelligence in Health (AAAiH) delivered a proposed policy plan for AI in A National Policy Roadmap for Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare. AAAiH is a joint initiative of over 100 national and international partners and stakeholders in academia, government, consumer, clinical, industry organisations and peak bodies.

As part of the Supporting Safe and Responsible AI Budget 2024 – 25 measure, the department will review health and aged care legislative and regulatory frameworks impacted by AI⁵. Additionally, the department is contributing to the evidence base by funding health-related AI research.

The department's submission outlines key considerations for the safe adoption of AI in health care, which can improve care outcomes and experiences for everyone in Australia.

Opportunities to adopt AI in ways that benefit consumers

The rapid development of commercial AI solutions reveals opportunities for generative AI to solve urgent and emerging challenges in the Australian health system. AI is not new to health care; machine learning techniques (sometimes grouped within 'traditional AI') have been applied to health and care data sets since the early 1970s⁶. Today's and future clinical opportunities for AI to benefit the Australian health system are broad, spanning diagnosis to monitoring to drug discovery and research.

For consumers, AI might assist in navigating an increasingly complex health system, allow for real time language translation into a preferred language and use of health care outside of traditional business hours. Populations with the greatest potential to benefit from AI, include people in regional communities, shift workers and those who speak languages other than English who may have difficulty using services.⁷

Al has the potential to support the Government's commitment to Closing the Gap and improve the health of First Nations people. Some Aboriginal medical services clinics have implemented Al-assisted screening for diabetic retinopathy and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (ACCHOs) are using digital technology to connect their patients with remote specialists while they remain at the ACCHO clinic. The lack of appropriate healthcare services disproportionately affects First Nations people, especially those living outside major cities⁸.

Through engagement with the software industry, the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) notes that a wide range of products native to AI or adding AI to existing products are already being developed and supplied in health care. These products are a mix of Australian and global origins and address a wide range of clinical specialities, ranging from smartphone applications to large analytical platforms.

While some parts of health care are undoubtedly high-risk settings for the use of AI, there are opportunities with medium to low risk⁹. Predicting pre-admission rates or hospital bed allocations would increase facility preparedness and efficiency. Appointment scheduling and patient registration, drafting referral letters and care plans, billing and human resource management could free up as much as 30% of clinicians' time to care for patients.¹ Further consideration as to how to define risks within the healthcare setting, and the appropriate mitigations, is critical to safe adoption and maximisation of benefits in health care.



Safe adoption of Al

The Australian Government has committed to taking immediate action to support the safe adoption of AI in the broader economy. Ethical, safety, trust, data, social, liability, and regulation clarity concerns must be addressed to integrate AI technologies within health care.¹⁰

Ethical

The development of AI, research using AI and the application of AI in health care raises ethical issues that should be core to meaningful discussion about the uptake of AI. Addressing these concerns requires efforts by industry, health providers and policymakers. The application of Australia's 8 AI Ethics Principles¹¹ to regulatory and non-regulatory frameworks and guidelines must be targeted and rigorous to ensure safe, secure and reliable AI solutions to the challenges of the Australian healthcare environment. Any framework must be tested against Government commitments to the Closing the Gap agreement to ensure success of the shared Health Plan Vision¹².

Safety and trust

Patient safety and trust is of greatest importance in health care. Despite Al's benefits in health care, between 27% and 43 % of Australians approve of its use in health care, compared to the 60% who support Al development more broadly. International studies have shown that consumers do not trust Al¹⁴ in a healthcare setting because of the risks. The submission from the Australian Medical Association into the Safe and Responsible Use of Al consultation states "If patients and clinicians do not trust Als, their successful integration into clinical practice will ultimately fail". 15

The Australian Government's *interim response to the Safe and responsible AI in Australia consultation* commits to creating a regulatory environment that builds community trust. The Australian Government announced in Budget 2024-25 an investment of \$1.5 million to clarify and strengthen AI regulation in the healthcare sector.

Additionally, future policy needs to address healthcare providers' concerns about Al. ¹⁰ Healthcare providers have limited to no training in evaluating Al software. There is a lack of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and peer-reviewed cases on Al for clinicians to appraise, and in some cases RCTs are not appropriate for developing clinical evidence for Al technologies. Furthermore, the lack of transparency, explainability and understanding of an Al algorithm can complicate a clinical consultation and reduce trust in the system's outputs. ¹⁶ Research shows that healthcare providers won't use Al technology if they believe it is not sophisticated enough to handle complex conditions and if decisions cannot be reviewed. ¹⁰

Data

Access to and use of high-quality, complete data is essential for AI performance, accuracy, and reliability. ¹⁷ In Australia, data regulations, including formal legislation and policies, are often seen as barriers to data sharing. The Australian Bureau of Statistics led Person-Level Integrated Data Asset (PLIDA) and the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare led National Health Data Hub (NHDH) are examples of available health data assets. These data assets enable insights into the Australian health landscape and social determinants of health and show collaborative efforts across jurisdictions to improve data accessibility and sharing. Academics and industry are the dominant users of health data for AI, however there may be opportunities for academics to boost utilisation of health data through the *Data Availability and Transparency Act 2022*.



The Australian Government's investment into digital health will improve data sharing. Under the *Digital Health Blueprint 2023-2033* the department is working with state and territories to implement the standards and information sharing actions in Australia's *National Healthcare Interoperability Plan*. This will enable an open national data exchange and data sharing capabilities for Australia's health system. The department is also investigating national health information sharing and consent legislation framework to support the sharing of health information across care settings and across jurisdictional borders.

Regulation clarity

Submissions to the *Australian Government's interim response to the Safe and responsible AI in Australia consultation* and policy statements by the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP)¹⁸, Medical Software Industry Association (MSIA)¹⁹, Australian Medical Association (AMA)¹⁵ among others call³ for regulation clarity and to be part of the consultation on regulatory safeguards in Australia for the use of AI in health care.

The submissions emphasised the need for widespread adoption of AI in the healthcare system. They advocated for a risk-based approach to regulation²⁰ that ensures the ethical implementation of AI in healthcare eliminates bias, protects data privacy and supports national governance establishment.²¹

The Australian Government announced in Budget 2024-25 an investment of \$1.5 million to clarify and strengthen AI regulation in the healthcare sector.

Wider determinants

People living in Australia have different levels of access to Al-driven health care, because of the wider determinates of health. These include the social, environmental, structural, economic, cultural, biomedical, commercial and digital environments in which we live, work, play and age.²² More than 25% of Australians miss out on social, educational and economic benefits of digital inclusion or online connectivity.²³

As Al tools integrated into healthcare, they may increase the digital divide.²⁴ With wealthy Australians living up to 6.4 years longer than the bottom 20% of income earners,²⁵ and people in the poorest households at least four times more likely to be digitally excluded²⁶, considered efforts need to be made so the adoption of Al technology is not only available to those who can most afford it.

Al literacy

In Australia, 60% of people have low health literacy.²⁷ and most Australians describe having a low understanding of AI, including low awareness of how and when it is used.²⁸ Development of AI literacy by consumers is critical for health care purposes and everyday life. The non-technical course for consumers offered by the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) and the Institute of Applied Technology Digital (IATD) is a good example of a program aimed at improving AI literacy.²⁹

In Australia, some medical specialist colleges are developing AI competencies and training programs for their members and opportunities to learn more about AI through health professional bodies is increasing. However, many in the healthcare sector historically have had limited access to relevant education or professional development as AI's use grows.³⁰



The *National Digital Health Strategy* ³¹ highlights the importance of creating a digital-ready workforce. The *Australian Digital Health Capability Framework* outlines digital health capabilities for healthcare providers. Efforts to improve AI literacy should build on these existing frameworks and should include how AI can support healthcare providers to reduce human factors that lead to patient harm, including fatigue, burn-out and cognitive biases.³²

Risks and harms arising from the adoption of Al technologies

The Australian Government's *Interim response to the Safe and Responsible AI consultation* identified main risk areas: technical, unpredictability, opacity, domain-specific, and unforeseen. It also acknowledged widespread public concern about rapid technological advancements in AI.

The application of AI in health care presents heightened ethical, legal, safety, security and regulatory risks. The risks for health care are heightened because of the direct effect on patient safety and the use of sensitive health data for algorithmic development.

Data, Privacy, Security and Sovereignty

Management of patient privacy and consent when collecting, sharing, storing, and using sensitive health data is a critical consideration. All technologies that use sensitive health data to train and refine models, require explicit consent from a consumer in line with the *Privacy Act 1988*. If this data was to be breached, it creates serious privacy consequences with the potential to erode trust in Al.

The Australian Privacy Principles apply to organisations sharing Australian health information overseas, but more work is needed to protect the data and obtain informed consent. All also introduces challenges for existing approaches to gain consent and may undermine the role of informed consent, especially about transparency in data usage and sharing.

One example is using general-purpose AI (GPAI) solutions in clinical settings, where clinical data might be entered into the system, stored and then used for future outputs. Commonly known solutions include ChatGPT and Google Gemini. Some Australian jurisdictions have banned the use of GPAI solutions in health care because of data privacy concerns.³³

To realise the benefits of AI, comprehensive and secure infrastructure is required for ensuring inter-connected sovereign datasets are protected. These datasets are fundamental for developing AI solutions, such as health-specific foundation models, that are appropriate for an Australian population.

Transparency and Explainability

Data standardisation, stewardship and interoperability are important steps in optimising data quality for trusted AI outputs. Many AI algorithms are 'black box technologies'⁴⁰, which have internal mechanisms that are non-transparent³⁴ and difficult to interpret or explain. ⁴¹ This results in both low trust and understanding of AI-made recommendations. Additionally, transparency and responsible disclosure are necessary for both consumers and healthcare providers to know when an AI system is engaging with them. Achieving transparency in AI systems through responsible disclosure is essential to ensure that users understand what the system is doing and why. Understanding processes and input data helps consumers and healthcare providers to build confidence in the technology.

The requirements for transparency in health care are crucial since the decisions directly affect people's lives.³⁵



Safety

The accuracy of an AI output is dependent on the quality of data input. In some cases, outputs can be entirely wrong, commonly referred to as hallucinations. ⁴⁰ This may pose serious patient safety risks when AI software is used to give clinical decision-making support, for example differential diagnosis or disease screening tools. AI algorithm failure could lead to incorrectly categorising a patient resulting in unnecessary, delayed or ineffective treatment. ³⁶ For this reason, incorporating a human in the loop (HITL) during the design and use of AI technologies is critical for health and care applications. It should be acknowledged that AI may also increase patient safety, as human factors that lead to safety risks, including fatigue and burnout, AI systems are not susceptible to. ³⁷

Bias and Fairness

Al algorithms can inherit biases if they are trained on or developed with limited or biased data sets.³⁸ Bias can also occur through the intrinsic design or configuration of the Al system itself. Errors or misleading results can arise where the data Al is trained on draws from a population that is different to the group it is then applied to.¹

In healthcare settings, biased algorithms can lead to exacerbation of inequities³⁹, existing social inequalities⁴⁰, and disparities in patient care, especially in underrepresented populations. For example, a machine learning algorithm was found to be less accurate at the detection of melanoma in darker skinned individuals, as it had mainly trained on fair skinned patients.¹⁰ AI may also predict greater likelihood of disease because of gender or race when those are not causal factors.⁴¹Therefore, as data diversity is a main enabler for better accuracy and more equitable performance, it is critical that if data limitations are in the AI solution, these gaps should be understood and made available to healthcare providers who are using AI for clinical purposes.⁴² Humans are also susceptible to human cognitive biases, an evidence base is building which shows how AI can improve clinical decision making and accuracy in patient care.³²

Reliance

While it has been shown that more experienced healthcare providers tend to trust their own knowledge and experience more than an AI system⁴³, there is a well-documented tendency for humans to over-rely on, and delegate responsibility to, decision support systems, rather than continuing to be vigilant, known as automation bias.¹ A healthcare provider receiving information from an automated clinical decision support system may attribute greater weight to the first result, biasing their clinical decision due to anchoring bias.

It is possible that time-poor healthcare providers may be more susceptible to these cognitive biases and accept guidance from automated systems without confirmatory evidence. 44 This creates risks for patient results where the AI makes an error, complicating accountability. This potential risk could be mitigated by fostering AI literacy development amongst healthcare providers.

Role of the Therapeutic Goods Administration

The Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) regulates software as medical devices (SaMD), including the use of AI and generative AI like large language models (LLMs-such as ChatGPT) when they are used for medical purposes. Guidance about the regulatory requirements for SaMD covers data management (privacy, collection, use), cybersecurity, algorithm and model description and validation, bias, integration with other data, devices or systems.



Regulatory requirements are technology-agnostic for software-based medical devices and apply regardless of whether the product incorporates components like AI, chatbots, cloud, smartphone applications or other technologies.

Classification rules address the potential risk of harm from information and ensure that products are subject to levels of scrutiny and manufacturing standards that are commensurate with the level of risk. These rules specifically consider potential harm caused by providing incorrect information to users of medical devices.

The rules consider medical devices intended for:

- diagnosing or screening for a disease or condition
- monitoring the state or progression of a disease or condition
- specifying or recommending a treatment or intervention
- providing therapy (through provision of information).

The TGA participates in AI international working groups for the International Medical Device Regulators Forum (IMDRF) and the US FDA Digital Health Thinktank, mainly concerned with AI, allowing the TGA to remain abreast of international activities.

Research

The Commonwealth's Medical Research Future Fund (MRFF) and National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) grant programs offer funding opportunities for Alrelated health projects. Continued financial investment underpins evidence-based development of Al in health care and supports the safe adoption of Al by healthcare providers and consumers in Australia.

NHMRC's funding opportunities give support for high quality research in any area, including Al-related research. NHMRC is building research capability and supporting the translation of research using Al. Between 2021 and 2023, NHMRC awarded at least 62 grants totalling over \$72.7 million for health and medical research where the researcher has indicated that the research will either involve Al or be relevant to Al in their grant titles, keywords, disciplines or plain descriptions. In 2023, NHMRC released guidance to researchers on the use of Al in grant applications and peer review. NHMRC is also working with experts to consider future activities to support the responsible and effective use of Al by the research sector and maximise the benefits of Al for human health.

From its inception in 2015 to 16 May 2023, the Medical Research Future Fund (MRFF) has invested \$111.2 million in 50 grants with a focus on research related to artificial intelligence and associated health research.

The MRFF provides funding for research related to artificial intelligence in health through two initiatives:

• The National Critical Research Infrastructure Initiative will provide \$650 million over 10 years from 2022-23 for research infrastructure that will be used to conduct world-class health and medical research. Stream 2 of this Initiative is focused on digitisation of health care – developing and translating into practice digital therapeutics, artificial intelligence enabled health interventions and technologies (e.g. wearables), applications or other software for use in clinical practice. The Research Data Infrastructure initiative will provide \$100 million over 10 years from 2022–23. It will fund the creation or extension of national research data infrastructure with a focus on data registries, biobanks and data linkage platforms, including the use of artificial intelligence, to support Australian medical research.



Conclusion

The rapid development of AI has highlighted the significant opportunity to address challenges within the Australian healthcare system. However, preparing for AI's unintended consequences in the health sector is critical⁴⁵ and requires consideration of healthcare's unique ethical, legal, safety, and regulatory risks, and how these might be mitigated.

Leveraging existing risk-based approaches, integrating Al-specific risks for health care and aligning to the whole of economy approach led by the Department of Industry, Science and Resources (DISR) are necessary for the maximisation of the benefits of Al in healthcare within Australia.

For healthcare providers, AI may support the provision of quality healthcare by reducing the human factors that can impact patient safety, such as fatigue, burn-out and cognitive biases. AI should not replace healthcare providers in making clinical decisions but assist in information processing and supporting the delivery of health care.

The department will collaborate with stakeholders on how the healthcare legislation and regulatory framework need to be adjusted to support the safe adoption of AI in healthcare. This important next step will ensure that the development and deployment of AI systems in the Australia health system are safe and reliable for future generations. Making our health system more efficient, personalised, and accessible.

Glossary

Artificial Intelligence (AI) system - a machine-based system that, for explicit or implicit objectives, infers, from the input it receives, how to generate outputs such as predictions, content, recommendations, or decisions that can influence physical or virtual environments. Different AI systems vary in their levels of autonomy and adaptiveness after deployment.⁴⁶

Automation Bias - the tendency over-rely on computer output 'as a heuristic replacement of vigilant information seeking and processing.' ⁴⁷

Anchoring Bias – a cognitive heuristic whereby people are influenced by specific, often initial, piece of information before a judgement. For example, a clinician receiving information from an automated clinical decision support system and "anchoring" to the first result, biasing their clinical decision. ⁴⁸

Explainability - Al models using large amounts of data are often too complex for human understanding of all the patterns and nonlinear relationships it contains. Human users should be able to understand what these Al models 'know' or 'learn' and how they will behave in all contexts to trust the results and output. ⁴⁶

General purpose Al (GPAI) - (or general Al) a type of Al system that addresses a broad range of tasks and uses, both intended and unintended by developers.⁴⁶

Generative AI - a branch of AI that develops generative models with the capability of learning to generate content such as images, text, and other media with similar properties as their training data. ⁴⁶

Human in the loop – There may be circumstances when having humans in the loop or involved in reviewing or monitoring an AI systems' operations are important for minimising potential risks and supporting public trust and confidence. ⁴⁹

Interoperability – The ability of a system or product to transfer meaning of information within and between systems or products without special effort on the part of the user. Interoperability is made possible by the implementation of standards.⁵⁰



Opacity – Decisions made by AI systems are not always traceable and humans cannot always obtain insights into the inner workings of algorithms (i.e. the 'black box'). 46

Sovereignty – The capability of jurisdictions to build, operate and manage AI technology drawing upon data, skills, knowledge, models and computational resources within the jurisdiction.⁵¹

Transparency – Users should understand when they are being significantly impacted by Al and when an Al system is engaging with them.⁵²

References

¹ Productivity Commission 2024, Leveraging digital technology in healthcare, Research paper, Canberra

² Australian Government (2023). Intergenerational Report 2023. [online] Available at: https://treasury.gov.au/sites/default/files/2023-08/p2023-435150.pdf.

³ Department of Industry, Science and Resources . (2024). Safe and responsible AI in Australia consultation - Australian Government's interim response. Retrieved from https://consult.industry.gov.au/supporting-responsible-ai

⁴ National Institute of Standards and Technology (2023). Al Risk Management Framework. Artificial Intelligence Risk Management Framework (Al RMF 1.0). [online] doi: https://doi.org/10.6028/nist.ai.100-1.

⁵ Australian Government (2024), Budget Paper No. 2, Budget Measures 2024–25

⁶ Kaul V, Enslin S, Gross SA. History of artificial intelligence in medicine. Gastrointest Endosc. 2020 Oct;92(4):807-812. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.06.040. Epub 2020 Jun 18. PMID: 32565184.

⁷ Arora, A., Alderman, J.E., Palmer, J. et al. The value of standards for health datasets in artificial intelligence-based applications. Nat Med 29, 2929–2938 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-023-02608-w

⁸ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2024). Rural and Remote Health. [online] Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Available at: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/rural-remote-australians/rural-and-remote-health.

⁹ 109 European Commission, 'Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council - Laying down harmonised rules on Artificial Intelligence (Artificial Intelligence Act) and amending certain Union Legislative Acts', The AI Act website, 2021, accessed 17 April 2023.

¹⁰ Ahmed MI, Spooner B, Isherwood J, Lane M, Orrock E, Dennison A. A Systematic Review of the Barriers to the Implementation of Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare. Cureus. 2023 Oct 4;15(10):e46454. doi: 10.7759/cureus.46454. PMID: 37927664; PMCID: PMC10623210.

¹¹ Department of Industry, Science and Resources (2022). Australia's AI Ethics Principles. [online] Industry.gov.au. Available at: https://www.industry.gov.au/publications/australias-artificial-intelligence-ethics-framework/australias-ai-ethics-principles.

¹² National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Plan 2021-2031 Framework

¹³ Isbanner S, O'Shaughnessy P, Steel D, Wilcock S, Carter S. The Adoption of Artificial Intelligence in Health Care and Social Services in Australia: Findings From a Methodologically Innovative National Survey of Values and Attitudes (the AVA-AI Study).
J Med Internet Res. 2022 Aug 22;24(8):e37611. doi: 10.2196/37611. PMID: 35994331; PMCID: PMC9446139.

¹⁴ Business Wire. (2023, October 12). Carta Healthcare Survey Results Indicate That Education around AI May Improve Consumer Trust. Www.businesswire.com. https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20231012647360/en/Carta-Healthcare-survey-results-indicate-that-education-around-AI-may-improve-consumer-trust

¹⁵ Australian Medical Association. (2023). Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare. Retrieved from https://www.ama.com.au/sites/default/files/2023-08/Artificial%20Intelligence%20in%20Healthcare%20-%20AMA.pdf

¹⁶ Bekbolatova M, Mayer J, Ong CW, Toma M. Transformative Potential of Al in Healthcare: Definitions, Applications, and Navigating the Ethical Landscape and Public Perspectives. Healthcare (Basel). 2024 Jan 5;12(2):125. doi: 10.3390/healthcare12020125. PMID: 38255014; PMCID: PMC10815906.

¹⁷ Walsh, T., Levy, N., Bell, G., Elliott, A., Maclaurin, J., Mareels, I.M.Y., Wood, F.M., (2019) The effective and ethical development of artificial intelligence:An opportunity to improve our wellbeing. Report for the Australian Council of Learned Academies, www.acola.org.

¹⁸ Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. (2018). RACGP - Artificial intelligence in primary care. Retrieved May 13, 2024, from Racgp.org.au website: https://www.racgp.org.au/advocacy/position-statements/view-all-position-statements/clinical-and-practice-management/artificial-intelligence-in-primary-careA



- ¹⁹ Medical Software Industry Association. (2023). Safe and Responsible use of Al in Australia. Retrieved from https://www.msia.com.au/public/137/files/Final%20submission%20to%20DISR-%20Al%20ejh040823.pdf
- ²⁰ RACGP letter to AMA submission to the Department of Industry, Science and Resources Discussion Paper
- ²¹ AMA submission to the Department of Industry, Science and Resources Discussion Paper
- ²²Department of Health and Aged Care 2021, National Preventive Health Strategy 2021–2030 Strategy paper, Canberra
- ²³ Thomas, J., McCosker, A., Parkinson, S., Hegarty, K., Featherstone, D., Kennedy, J., Holcombe-James, I., Ormond-Parker, L., & Ganley, L. (2023). Measuring Australia's Digital Divide: Australian Digital Inclusion Index: 2023. Melbourne: ARC Centre of Excellence for Automated Decision-Making and Society, RMIT University, Swinburne University of Technology, and Telstra.
- ²⁴ CSIRO. (2024, March 19). The "digital divide" is already hurting people's quality of life. Will Al make it better or worse?. Retrieved from www.csiro.au website: https://www.csiro.au/en/news/All/Articles/2024/March/Digital-divide-Al
- ²⁵ Broerse, J, Maple, J-L, Klepac Pogrmilovic, B, Macklin, S, Calder, R. Australia's Health Tracker by Socioeconomic Status 2021. Australian Health Policy Collaboration, Mitchell Institute, Victoria University, July 2021.
- ²⁶ Stone, E. (2021). Digital exclusion & health inequalities briefing paper. The Good Things Foundation.
- ²⁷ Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian SocialTrends. Commonwealth of Australia; 2009
- ²⁸ Gillespie, N., Curtis, C., Lockey, S., & The University of Queensland. (2020). Australians have low trust in artificial intelligence and want it to be better regulated. Retrieved from stories.uq.edu.au website: https://stories.uq.edu.au/momentum-magazine/2020/australians-low-trust-ai/index.html
- ²⁹ CSIRO. (2024a, March 1). One million "Introduction to AI" scholarships available to Australians. Www.csiro.au. https://www.csiro.au/en/news/All/News/2024/March/Introduction-to-AI-scholarships-available-to-Australians
- ³⁰ Gray K, Slavotinek J, Dimaguila GL, Choo D. Artificial Intelligence Education for the Health Workforce: Expert Survey of Approaches and Needs. JMIR Med Educ. 2022 Apr 4;8(2):e35223. doi: 10.2196/35223. PMID: 35249885; PMCID: PMC9016514.
- ³¹ Australian Digital Health Agency. (2023). Enablers. Retrieved from www.digitalhealth.gov.au website: https://www.digitalhealth.gov.au/national-digital-health-strategy/enablers
- ³² Brown C, Nazeer R, Gibbs A, Le Page P, Mitchell AR. Breaking Bias: The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Improving Clinical Decision-Making. Cureus. 2023 Mar 20;15(3):e36415. doi: 10.7759/cureus.36415. PMID: 37090406; PMCID: PMC10115193.
- ³³ Andreotta AJ, Kirkham N, Rizzi M. AI, big data, and the future of consent. AI Soc. 2022;37(4):1715-1728. doi: 10.1007/s00146-021-01262-5. Epub 2021 Aug 30. PMID: 34483498; PMCID: PMC8404542.
- ³⁴ Al Kuwaiti A, Nazer K, Al-Reedy A, Al-Shehri S, Al-Muhanna A, Subbarayalu AV, Al Muhanna D, Al-Muhanna FA. A Review of the Role of Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare. Journal of Personalized Medicine. 2023; 13(6):951. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm13060951
- ³⁵ Kiseleva A, Kotzinos D and De Hert P (2022) Transparency of AI in Healthcare as a Multilayered System of Accountabilities: Between Legal Requirements and Technical Limitations. Front. Artif. Intell. 5:879603. doi: 10.3389/frai.2022.879603
- ³⁶ U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2024). Letter re: DEN230036; Sepsis ImmunoScore. Retrieved from https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pdf23/DEN230036.pdf
- 37 World Health Organization (2023). Patient safety. [online] World Health Organization. Available at: https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/patient-safety.
- ³⁸ Victor Galaz, Miguel A. Centeno, Peter W. Callahan, Amar Causevic, Thayer Patterson, Irina Brass, Seth Baum, Darryl Farber, Joern Fischer, David Garcia, Timon McPhearson, Daniel Jimenez, Brian King, Paul Larcey, Karen Levy, Artificial intelligence, systemic risks, and sustainability, Technology in Society, Volume 67, 2021, 101741, ISSN 0160-791X, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101741.
- ³⁹ Berdahl CT, Baker L, Mann S, Osoba O, Girosi F Strategies to Improve the Impact of Artificial Intelligence on Health Equity: Scoping Review JMIR AI 2023;2:e42936 doi: 10.2196/42936
- ⁴⁰ Bell, G., Burgess, J., Thomas, J., and Sadiq, S. (2023, March 24). Rapid Response Information Report: Generative AI language models (LLMs) and multimodal foundation models (MFMs). Australian Council of Learned Academies.
- ⁴¹ Davenport T, Kalakota R. The potential for artificial intelligence in healthcare. Future Healthc J. 2019 Jun;6(2):94-98. doi: 10.7861/futurehosp.6-2-94. PMID: 31363513; PMCID: PMC6616181.
- ⁴² Arora, A., Alderman, J.E., Palmer, J. et al. The value of standards for health datasets in artificial intelligence-based applications. Nat Med 29, 2929–2938 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-023-02608-w
- ⁴³ Lambert, S.I., Madi, M., Sopka, S. et al. An integrative review on the acceptance of artificial intelligence among healthcare professionals in hospitals. npj Digit. Med. 6, 111 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-023-00852-5
- ⁴⁴ Challen R, Denny J, Pitt M, Gompels L, Edwards T, Tsaneva-Atanasova K. Artificial intelligence, bias and clinical safety. BMJ Qual Saf. 2019 Mar;28(3):231-237. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2018-008370. Epub 2019 Jan 12. PMID: 30636200; PMCID: PMC6560460.



- ⁴⁵ Australian e-Health Research Centre (AEHRC) (2024). *Al trends for healthcare*. [online] Available at: https://aehrc.csiro.au/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/Al-Trends-for-Healthcare.pdf.
- ⁴⁶ Department of Industry Science and Resources. (2024). Senate Select Committee on Adopting Artificial Intelligence (AI) Written Submission
- ⁴⁷ Goddard, K., Roudsari, A., & Wyatt, J. C. (2012). Automation bias: a systematic review of frequency, effect mediators, and mitigators. *J Am Med Inform Assoc*, *19*(1), 121-127. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000089
- ⁴⁸ Furnham, A., & Boo, H. C. (2011). A literature review of the anchoring effect. *The Journal of Socio-Economics, 40*(1), 35-42. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2010.10.008
- ⁴⁹ Department of Industry Science and Resources. (2023). *Safe and responsible AI in Australia Discussion Paper*. Retrieved from https://storage.googleapis.com/converlens-au-industry/industry/p/prj2452c8e24d7a400c72429/public_assets/Safe-and-responsible-AI-in-Australia-discussion-paper.pdf
- ⁵⁰ Australian Digital Health Agency. (2023). Connecting Australian Healthcare NATIONAL HEALTHCARE INTEROPERABILITY PLAN. Retrieved from https://www.digitalhealth.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/national-healthcare-interoperability-plan-2023-2028.pdf
- ⁵¹ Hajkowicz, S. A. (2024). *Artificial intelligence foundation models: Industry enablement, productivity growth, policy levers and sovereign capability considerations for Australia*. Retrieved from Canberra: https://www.csiro.au/-/media/D61/Files/2400012DATA61REPORTAIFoundationModelsWEB240208-1.pdf
- ⁵² Department of Industry Science and Resources. (2022). Australia's AI Ethics Principles. *Industry.gov.au*. Retrieved from https://www.industry.gov.au/publications/australias-artificial-intelligence-ethics-framework/australias-ai-ethics-principles#footnote-1